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Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 
 
The Directors of Mitsubishi Corporation Finance PLC (“MCF” or the “Company”) present their strategic report for the 

year ended 31 March 2025 in accordance with section 414C of the Companies Act 2006. 

  

This strategic report has been prepared solely to provide information to the shareholder to assess how the Directors have 

performed their duty to promote the success of the Company. 

 
The strategic report contains forward-looking statements. These statements are made by the Directors in good faith 

based on the information available to them up to the time of their approval of this report and such statements should be 

treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, including both economic and business risk factors, underlying any 

such forward-looking information.  

 
Strategy, objectives and business model 

 
The Company’s business model is to provide treasury services to the Mitsubishi Corporation Group (“MC Group”) in 

the Europe, Middle East, and Africa (“EMEA”) region. It achieves this by raising finance in the capital markets and 

managing liquidity to ensure that it can meet the funding requirements of the MC Group companies at all times. 

 

MCF’s business is designed to operate within a sustainable low risk strategy that provides the Company with the ability 

to adapt to changing market conditions by managing risk and focusing on the core business funding requirements of 

MC Group companies, mostly in the EMEA region but also to Chilean subsidiaries of a European based MC Group 

company. 

 

To meet this objective the Company maintains a comprehensive business contact network in London and the European 

markets, through active participation in a variety of financial transactions. 

 
Business environment, principal risks, and uncertainties 

 
The reporting period was marked by significant economic uncertainty, driven by a combination of geopolitical 

tensions, inflationary pressures, volatile interest rate policies, and global market instability. These factors collectively 

created a challenging environment for businesses, governments, and consumers alike. 

Persisting Inflation and Interest Rate Volatility 

 

Inflation remained a central concern for global economies in 2024, with many central banks struggling to bring 
inflation down to target levels. 

 In the United States, the Federal Reserve, having raised interest rates to 5.5% during the previous 
year began loosening monetary policy and reduced the benchmark rate to 5% at the September 2024 
meeting. Further reductions in the latter half of 2024 saw rates decline to 4.5% by the end of the 
reporting period. Inflation reduced throughout the period and ended the year at 2.4%, slightly above 
the 2% target. 

 The Bank of England (BoE) faced greater challenges, with UK inflation path towards the 2% 
proving to be erratic. Having started the year at 5.25%, gradual easing commenced in August 2024 
when the benchmark rate was reduced to 5%. The rate was 4.5% at the end of the reporting period. 
The path for UK Inflation reduced to 1.7% in September 2024. However, prices began to increase at 
a higher pace during the rest of the year and reached 3% in January 2025. By the end of the 
reporting period it had reduced to 2.6%. 

 The European Central Bank (ECB) Having started the year at 4%, commenced a period of 
monetary loosening in June 2024. As inflation across the Eurozone came under control, the ECB 
reduced rates 5 times during the year, with rates ending the year at 2.50% and inflation at 2.2%.  
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 

The uncertainty surrounding the pace and effectiveness of monetary policy created some volatility in financial 
markets, dampened consumer confidence, and increased the cost of borrowing for businesses and households. 

 
Geopolitical Instability 

The Russia-Ukraine conflict, which began in 2022, continued to disrupt global energy markets and supply chains in 
2024. While Europe reduced its dependency on Russian energy, the war caused ongoing economic instability, 
particularly in Eastern Europe. 

The majority of the Company’s loan to a MC Group Company resident in Russia remained outstanding as capital 
restrictions imposed by the Russian central bank severely inhibited repayment, more detailed disclosures regarding 
exposures are covered within this strategic report and in the notes to the accounts. 

The Hamas-Israel conflict and the resulting war in Gaza added further geopolitical tensions. While the direct 
economic impact was limited to the Middle East, the conflict heightened global risks, particularly in energy markets. 

Global Energy Market Volatility 

Energy prices fluctuated throughout 2024 due to geopolitical tensions and supply constraints. 

Natural gas prices in Europe remained volatile, with intermittent supply disruptions and increased demand during the 
winter months. 

Energy price uncertainty impacted industries heavily reliant on oil and gas, while also exacerbating inflationary 
pressures in many economies. 

The Company has strong relationships with a number of MC Group Companies active in the European energy market 
and have worked closely with them to ensure that their working capital funding needs are managed in an effective 
manner. 

Currency and Financial Market Volatility 

Currency markets experienced significant volatility in 2024, with the US dollar strengthening against many emerging 
market currencies due to higher interest rates and safe-haven demand. 

Financial markets were turbulent, with equity markets facing selloffs during periods of heightened uncertainty. Bond 
markets also experienced volatility as investors adjusted to changing interest rate expectations. 

Recessionary Pressures 

Many advanced economies faced the threat of recession in 2024 due to the lagging effects of aggressive monetary 
tightening in 2022 and 2023. 

 In the United States, growth slowed significantly, with some economists predicting a mild recession 
in early 2024. However, the economy proved resilient, avoiding a full-blown recession by year-end. 

 The Eurozone experienced uneven growth, with some member states entering technical recessions 
while others, such as Germany and France, showed modest recovery. 

 The United Kingdom faced stagnation, with weak growth and high inflation creating a difficult 
environment for businesses and consumers. 

 
Russian/Ukrainian Conflict 

 

Following last year’s assignment of loans to a third party, the Company had exposure to one Russian based entity, MC 

Bank Russia, a wholly owned subsidiary of MC Tokyo engaged in the automotive financing sector. 

 

MC Bank Russia is not designated as a sanctioned entity by the UK, EU or US and the Company has received assurances 

that the Russian entities are not engaged in any activities that contravene applicable sanctions legislation.  
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 

The Company continues to monitor the sanctions regime and has engaged external lawyers to closely monitor the 

legislative changes to ensure that the Company remains compliant at all times. 

 

 Repayment of outstanding obligations 

 

Continuing sanctions imposed by the Central Bank of Russia (CBR) resulted in severe restrictions on the Russian 

domiciled borrower’s ability to service its debt. However, some repayments up to Russian Ruble (RUB) ten million 

were permitted in limited circumstances. A total of RUB110.m (2024: RUB 183.5m) was repaid via this method during 

the reporting period. 

 

 Credit Risk 

 

As at the reporting date, a total of $322.8m (2024: $273.0m) of loans were outstanding. The $49.8m increase being a 

result of increased accrued interest of $16.4m and the remainder a result of the deprecation in RUB/USD exchange rate. 

 

All the amounts outstanding are subject to irrevocable Letters of Guarantee from MC Tokyo. 

 

The inability to fully service debt when it falls due is often seen as an indication of a decrease in the financial health of 

the entity and may be considered by some as a default event. With respect to its Russian portfolio, the Company has 

been in close discussion with the management of the Russian entities and MC Tokyo to ascertain whether the non-

payment of their obligations is solely a response to the CBR restrictions or are also a result of the underlying financial 

performance. The Company is satisfied that the non-payment is solely a result of the CBR restrictions and instead of 

declaring a default event has issued waiver letters to the borrower, allowing the borrower to extend the maturity date of 

the payments. The waived payments remain fully covered by the Letter of Guarantee issued by MC Tokyo and the 

Company retains the right to invoke the terms of the Guarantee. 

 

 Ruble Liquidity Risk 

 

The Company hedges its exposure to Russian Rubles using cross currency swaps with European based banking 

counterparties. The cross-currency swaps paying Rubles at a fixed rate of interest in return for USD at a floating rate of 

interest. Prior to the invasion, the Ruble denominated leg of the cross-currency swap was funded by the receipt of the 

debt obligations from Russia. As this has not been fully possible throughout the reporting period the Company has 

worked closely with its external counterparties to agree to terms for each swap contract that would allow the Ruble 

denominated leg to be settled without any physical payment of Rubles. These swaps have been settled via a net US 

Dollar payment throughout the reporting period. 

 

 Market Risk 

 

The Company has hedged its Ruble exposure using derivatives with external counterparties. The reduction in liquidity 

in the Ruble market has meant that it is now unable to hedge the related Ruble risk on the waived repayments with 

derivatives with external counterparties. As a low-risk treasury centre of the MC Group, the Company has a very low 

appetite for bearing such market risk. To mitigate this risk, the Company has entered into derivative agreements with 

MC Tokyo that hedges the Ruble interest and foreign exchange risk of all waived payments. 
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 

  Russian withholding taxes 

 

In response to the international sanctions, the Russian government revoked the double taxation treaty that existed 

between the UK and Russia. Following the revocation, all interest payments from Russian to the UK are now subject to 

withholding taxes of 25%. The Company structures its loan agreements in such a way that the financial impact arising 

as a result of withholding taxes will be honoured by the borrower. During the year $8.3m (2024: $8.4m) was receivable 

as a result of Russian withholding taxes and is reported as trading income within the Company’s income statement. This 

additional income is offset by increase in tax payable. 

 

 Sanctions Compliance 

 

The international community responded to Russia’s invasion of Ukraine by imposing far reaching restrictions on 

selected people and entities ability to do business with the wider global community. In addition, restrictions were placed 

on the types of industry that could be financed within Russia and the occupied regions of Ukraine. The Company is 

fully committed to ensuring that its business is fully compliant with all such sanctions and has obtained legal assurances, 

both externally and internally that the positions it has in Russia are fully compliant with all relevant sanctions law. It 

continues to monitor the sanctions landscape and remains committed to be fully compliant with all such restrictions. 

 

Operational risk 

 

The company maintains strong operational controls under the Japanese Sarbanes-Oxley (J-Sox) framework. These 

controls include the maintenance of strict segregation of duties, review procedures and the maintenance of records to 

evidence such controls. The effectiveness of the Company’s J-Sox is audited annually, both internally and externally at 

the MC Group level. 

 

Cyber-crime and fraud detection 

 

The Company has robust policies in place to detect and protect the Company’s data and assets from cyber-crime. The 

Company continually monitors its systems environment to ensure it is free of malicious content. In addition to the first 

line of control prevention measures, the Company also ensures segregation of duties are maintained and provides regular 

employee training to ensure that any threats are minimised. There were no such incidents in the reporting period. 

 
Future Developments 
 

In April 2025, Mitsubishi Corporation announced its new management strategy, Corporate Strategy 2027. The theme 

of the new strategy is “Leveraging our Integrated Strength for the Future.” Recognising the geopolitical and economic 

risk outlined above, it is recognised that the business environment has become increasingly uncertain on multiple fronts. 

Corporate Strategy 2027 gives flexibility to shift the MC Group’s strategic direction based on the risk and opportunities 

that arise. 

 

The role MC Group Companies based in the EMEA region play in the new strategy is yet to be seen, but the Company 

remains well placed to work with its partners in the region to ensure it remains able to service new demands and take 

advantage of the opportunities as they arise. 
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 
Business Performance 
 
The Directors monitor the progress and performance of the Company with reference to several key performance 

indicators (“KPIs”) relating to net interest income, other gains and losses, administrative expenses, loans advanced and 

the investment portfolio. 

 

The Company operates a business model that applies a spread above the relevant benchmark rates for inter-group 

lending and a spread below relevant benchmark rates for inter-company deposits. This business model tends to result in 

the overall profitability of its business to remain relatively constant, regardless of the interest rate environment. 

However, in addition to its external funding sources, the Company benefits from the availability of its own capital 

reserves of $429.2m (2024: $437.3m) which are not subject to funding costs. This, along with the tenor mismatch, is 

the main cause of the $18.7m year on year increase of net interest income to $41.3m (2024: $22.6m). 

 

A decrease in value of its derivative positions of $52.1m, brought about by favourable changes to its Euro denominated 

hedging instruments resulted in a total gain of $3.8m (2024: $55.9m). 

 

The results of the Company are linked to the financing requirements of the MC Group companies. At the reporting date, 

the Company had a diverse geographical spread of assets. United Kingdom (“UK”) and European Union (“EU”) 

domiciled loans made up 20% (2024: 32%) and   36% (2024: 40%) respectively of the Company’s loans. Loans to MC 

Group companies in Chile make up 29% (2024: 21%) of the remainder. Loans to non-sanctioned Russian based entities 

made up 12% (2024: 8%). 

 

During the year, Mitsubishi Corporation divested its interest in Princes Ltd, a British food processing company and as 

a result, $632.7m of outstanding loans were subsequently repaid. The remaining business activity throughout the 

reporting period was robust, the working capital requirements from its other borrowers meant that the Company had 

issued loans totalling $2,778.9m at the reporting date, a $659.9m decrease over last year (2024: $3,401.3). 

  

The Company faced some pressure in relation to its cost base. Inflationary pressures, especially in relation to staffing 

costs saw total operating costs increase by $0.2m to $6.1m. (2024: $5.9m). 

 

The Company continued to benefit from its strong financial position by utilising a variety of funding sources. Issuance 

of short-term commercial paper stood at $1,607.1m at the year-end (2024: $2,702.2m); This decrease being a result of 

the Company having access to additional intercompany funds, which increased to $1,027.6m (2024: $597.6). 

 

There was one maturity of EMTNs during the reporting period and two new EMTNs were issued, resulting in year-end 

obligations on the EMTN programme being $68.5m (2024: $30m). 

 

The Company continues to hold investments in securities issued by a variety of supra-national financial institutions, 

including the International Bank of Reconstructions and Development at $89.0m, the Asia Development Bank at $24.6m 

and the European Investment Bank at $31.6m. These investments are considered High Quality Liquid Assets, as they 

can be liquidated very quickly and at little cost. The Company regularly uses these assets as collateral for overnight 

deposits within bilateral and tri-party repurchase agreement (repo) transactions. At the reporting date, $133.6m (2024: 

$116.7m) was pledged as collateral within repo transactions. 

 

The total value of the portfolio is $146.5m (2024: $127.7m). 

 

During the year, the Company was once again awarded the prize of “Best Corporate Issuer” by CMD Portal, a widely 

recognised provider of services to the capital markets industry. The award being recognised the Company’s commitment  
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 

to providing consistent and competitive investment opportunities within the European short term commercial paper 

sector. 

 

Overall, the Directors are very satisfied with the performance of the Company and anticipate that the Company will 

continue to perform well in the foreseeable future. 

 

Section 172 Statement 

 

In the performance of their duties under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 the Directors are committed to making 

decisions that are to the long-term benefit of its many stakeholders. Significant stakeholders include its sole shareholder, 

MC Tokyo, its employees, its group finance counterparties as well as its external financing counterparties.  The 

Company’s planning and decision-making structures ensure that decisions are not made that adversely impact the 

community in which it operates and the wider society. 

 

As a wholly owned subsidiary of Mitsubishi Corporation, the Company works closely with its shareholder in ensuring 

compliance of its Three Corporate Principles: 

 

 Corporate Responsibility to Society 

 Integrity and Fairness 

 Global Understanding Through Business 
 
There is an expectation throughout the Mitsubishi Corporation group that all companies, via their board of directors and 

individual employees act in accordance with these the Three Corporate Principles at all times and further details are laid 

out in the MC Group Corporate Standards of Conduct: 

 

1. Aim of Corporate Business Activities 

 

Through its business activities, Mitsubishi Corporation will endeavor to increase its value. At the same time, the 

company will strive to enrich society in all ways, developing and offering its customers the best services and products, 

with the highest regard for safety. 

 

 

2. Fairness and Integrity in Corporate Business Activities 

 

Mitsubishi Corporation will continue to develop its business activities in compliance with all relevant laws, international 

regulations, and internal rules. The Company will act responsibly and will respect the highest social standards. 

 

3. Respect for Human Rights and Employees 

 

Mitsubishi Corporation will respect human rights and will not engage in any discrimination. The Company will preserve 

and improve its corporate strengths through the development of its employees, all the while respecting the character and 

individuality of each employee. 

 

4. Information Security and Disclosure 

 

While Mitsubishi Corporation will continue to develop, implement and improve the effectiveness of its information 

security management system, at the same time the Company will disclose information accurately and in a timely fashion, 

to maintain transparency and be correctly understood by both its stakeholders and the general public. 
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 

5. Consideration for Environmental Issues 

 

Mitsubishi Corporation understands that an enterprise cannot continue to prosper without consideration for its 

environmental performance and will strive to protect and improve the global environment and pursue sustainable 

development through all aspects of its business activities. 

 

6. Contribution to Society 

 

As a responsible member of society, Mitsubishi Corporation will actively carry out philanthropic programs to promote 

the enrichment of society. Moreover, the Company will support the efforts of its employees to contribute to society. 

 

With reference to the matters set out within section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, an illustration of how the board of 

the Company applies these policies is listed below:  

 

(i) Employees interests 

 

The Company recognises the importance of its employees in achieving its business goals. The Company prioritises the 

health and wellbeing of its human capital and provides several benefits and policies to promote wellbeing. Furthermore, 

the Company recognises the importance of maintaining the skills, competence, and other development areas to ensure 

that its employees are able to deliver on the long-term goals of the Company. 

 

The Company engages with its employees in an open manner and encourages all employees to provide feedback 

whenever possible, whether this is via informal one to one discussions, its annual performance appraisal process or, if 

necessary via the Company’s whistleblower programme. 

 

(ii) Fostering Business Relationships 

 

The key to the Company’s success is managing its relationships with its financial counterparties. As already stated, the 

success of the Company is strongly linked to the success of other MC Group Companies and is actively engaged in 

ensuring it has a deep and thorough understanding of their requirements. It is recognised that fostering a cooperative 

approach to our business partners will allow the Company to gain a “Global Understanding Through Business.” 

 

(iii) Community and Environment 

 

Whilst the Company has a very low impact on the environment, it has active policies and procedures in place to minimise 

any detrimental impact it might have as it recognises its “Corporate Responsibility to Society” as a corner stone of 

Mitsubishi Corporation’s success. 

 

(iv) Business Conduct 

 

“Integrity and Fairness” are paramount in the approach the Company takes to its business. The promotion of doing 

business in a fair and open manner is regularly communicated across the MC Group Companies and with the Company 

itself. 

 

(v) Engagement with shareholders 

 

The Company works closely with its sole shareholder, MC Tokyo when ensuring that long term consequences of its 

decisions are recognised and managed effectively. 
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Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 

Going concern 
 
The Directors have reviewed budgets, projected cash flows, profit plans, business plans and other relevant information 

(e.g., guarantees and support provided by the parent company and existing funding programmes), and, on the basis of 

this review, have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence. 

At the reporting date, the Company had a net current asset position of $82.3m, compared to the previous liability position 

of $520.0m. The Company has access to a range of financing sources, which include a $3bn on-demand funding from 

MC Tokyo, as well as undrawn commitments of $2.1bn at a number of its Japanese banking partners. Furthermore, it 

has access to longer term funding, via its EMTN programme when required. The Company is confident that these 

Strategic report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 

 

funding sources will be retained throughout the next year and will be able to continue to access these funding sources 

for a period of at least 12 months from the approval of the financial statements. Accordingly, the Directors continue to 

adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts. 

 

This report was approved by the board of Directors on 12 August 2025 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
A. Yoshimi 
Managing Director and CEO 
12 August 2025 
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Directors' report for the year ended 31 March 2025 
 

The Directors present their Annual Report, together with the audited financial statements of Mitsubishi Corporation 

Finance PLC, for the year ended 31 March 2025. 

 

Directors 
 
The Directors who served during the year or at the date of this report are as shown below:  

 

K. Kawakami Chairman  (Appointed 16th March 2023) 

A. Yoshimi  Managing Director (Appointed 1st May 2023) 

A. Takada Director   (Resigned  31st March 2025) 

T. Shinohara  Director                             (Appointed 1st April 2025) 

 

Directors’ indemnities 
 

The Company has made no qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its Directors. 

 

Political Contributions 

 
The Company made no political contributions during the year. (2024: $nil) 

 

Registered Office 
 
8th Floor, Mid City Place,  
71 High Holborn,  

London,  

WC1V 6BA 

 

Capital structure 
 
Details of the authorised and issued share capital are shown in note 19. The Company has one class of ordinary shares 
which carries no right to fixed income. Each share carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company. 
The Company has an authorised share capital of $100m of which 90% is allotted, called up and fully paid and is held 
in its entirety by MC. 
 
There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are governed by the general 

provisions of the Articles of Association and the prevailing legislation. The Directors are not aware of any agreements 

between holders of the Company’s shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights. 

 

No person has any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital. 

 

With regard to the appointment and replacement of Directors, the Company is governed by its Articles of Association, 

the Companies Act and related legislation. The Articles themselves may be amended by special resolution of the 

shareholders. 
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Directors' report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 

The powers of Directors are conferred by the sole shareholder and parent company. 

 

Events after the statement of financial position date 

 
There are no events after the statement of financial position date that require disclosure. 

Dividends 
 
Whilst no formal dividend policy has been approved by the Directors, it is proposed that the Company will distribute 

dividends equivalent to the reporting period’s profit after tax. 

The Directors recommend the payment of a dividend of $17.1m for the year (2024: $24.8m).  

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting and has not been 

included as a liability in these financial statements. The proposed dividend is payable to MC Tokyo, the Company's 

sole shareholder. 

The payment of this dividend will be made from fully distributable reserves and will not have any tax consequences 

for the Company. 

Financial risk management objectives and policies, future developments and going concern 
statement 
 
Details of the Company’s financial risk management objectives and policies, future developments and going concern 
statement can be found within the strategic report and within note 21 and form part of this report by cross reference. 
 
Corporate Governance 
 
As the Company has only debt securities listed on the Professional Securities Market, it has availed itself of an 
exemption from the Financial Conduct Authority’s requirement to make corporate governance disclosures. 
 
The Corporate Principles of Mitsubishi Corporation Group 

As detailed in the Strategic Report, as a member of the Mitsubishi Corporation Group, the Company at all times 

conducts its business in a manner that corresponds to the Mitsubishi Corporation’s Three Corporate Principles 

 Corporate Responsibility to Society 

 Integrity and Fairness 

 Global Understanding Through Business 

 

It works within these guiding principles to ensure that it fosters strong and constructive relationships with its customers, 

suppliers, and other internal and external stakeholders. 
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Directors' report for the year ended 31 March 2025 (continued) 
 
Auditor and disclosure of audit information 
 
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:  

 

 so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; 
and 

 the Director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a Director in order to make them aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 
2006. 
 
Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and a resolution to reappoint them will 
be presented for approval at the Annual General Meeting. 
 
 
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
A. Yoshimi 
Managing Director and CEO 
12 August 2025 
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Directors’ responsibilities statement 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations. 

 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  Under that law the Directors 

have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).  

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.  In 

preparing these financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors: 

 

 properly select and apply accounting policies; 
 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable 

and understandable information;  
 provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to 

enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's 
financial position and financial performance; and 

 make an assessment of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 
 

We confirm to the best of our knowledge: 

 

 the financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, give a true 
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the Company; 

 the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position 
of the Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and 

 the Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide 
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position, performance, business model and 
strategy. 
 

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 

from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 

 

By order of the Board 
 
 
 
A. Yoshimi 
Managing Director and CEO 
12 August 2025 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Mitsubishi Corporation 
Finance PLC 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

1. Opinion 

In our opinion the financial statements of Mitsubishi Corporation Finance PLC (the ‘company’) : 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2025 and of its profit for the year 
then ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and 
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB); and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

We have audited the financial statements which comprise: 

 the income statement; 
 the statement of comprehensive income; 
 the statement of financial position; 
 the statement of changes in equity; 
 the cash flow statement; and 
 the related notes 1 to 27. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law, United Kingdom 

adopted international accounting standards and IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB.  

2. Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 

law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 

the financial statements section of our report.  

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as, applied 

to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Independent auditor’s report (continued) 

3. Summary of our audit approach 

Key audit matters The key audit matter that we identified in the current year was: 

 Estimation of expected credit losses for non-guaranteed loans 

Materiality The materiality that we used in the current year was $28.3m which was determined on the 
basis of 1% of total debt as at 31 March 2025. 

Scoping Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstatement was performed directly by the 
audit engagement team. 

Significant changes in 
our approach 

There were no significant changes in our approach. 

 

4. Conclusions relating to going concern 
 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting included:  
 Obtaining an understanding of management's going concern assessment, which included specific consideration 

of the impact of the current geopolitical environment including ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict and Hamas-
Israel conflict , global central banks' efforts to control and reduce inflation to target levels and changes in 
economic conditions during the period, in order to understand, challenge and evidence the key judgements made 
by management; 

 Assessing any changes to the company's funding arrangements; 
 Inspecting letters of guarantee provided by the parent company in relation to intercompany loan receivables; and 
 Evaluating the appropriateness of disclosures made in relation to going concern. 
 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 

sections of this report. 
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Independent auditor’s report (continued) 

5. Key audit matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 

(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the 

overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

5.1. Estimation of expected credit losses for non-guaranteed loans  

Key audit matter 

description 

As disclosed in the strategic report and Note 3 to the financial statements, the company 

provides funding to other members of the Mitsubishi Corporation Group (“MC Group”) in 

the Europe, Middle East and Africa region. The company is exposed to credit risk as losses 

may be suffered should a counterparty fail to meet their financial obligations to the 

company as and when they fall due. This exposure to credit risk is reduced as a result of 

credit enhancements in the form of guarantees from the company’s parent company in 

respect of the majority of its counterparties. 

As disclosed in Note 21 to the financial statements, as at 31 March 2025 loan receivables 

due from MC Group companies totalled $2,712 m (2024: $3,401.2m) with an associated 
expected credit loss (“ECL”) balance of $0.1m (2024: $0.2m). Of the gross loan balance as 

at 31 March 2025, 81% (2024: 88%) is guaranteed by the parent company and 19% (2024: 

12%) is not backed by a guarantee. 

There is a judgement involved in determining the expected credit loss balance in relation to 

non-guaranteed loan receivables in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9. Based on 

the nature of the loan book, as detailed above, we have identified a key audit matter in 

relation to the probability of default assumptions applied in the ECL model for non-

guaranteed loan exposures given the greater degree of uncertainty and judgement involved 

in the estimation of ECL’s against those balances. 

How the scope of our 

audit responded to the 

key audit matter 

 

We gained an understanding of the process by which the Probability of Default (PD) is 

determined. 

We assessed the sensitivity of the Probability of Default (PD) calculation to changes in 

underlying factors, including a 100% review of non-guaranteed loans. A creditworthiness 

assessment of MC Group and analysis of guarantee terms (including MC Bank Russia) were 

performed.  

Our audit procedures regarding the estimation of expected credit losses (ECL) for non-

guaranteed loans included performing an independent sensitivity analysis, incorporating a 

two-notch credit rating downgrade, to assess the impact on Probability of Default (PD) and 

ECL, and to evaluate the adequacy of the provision. 

We challenged management’s judgements regarding the appropriateness of the probability 

of default assumptions applied in the model to non-guaranteed loan exposures, through 
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 testing a sample of loans to assess the consistency of management’s assumptions with 

historic default rates by counterparties and evidence of post-year end repayments 

Key observations Based on the work performed we concluded that the expected credit loss balance recorded 

against loan receivables is appropriate. 

6. Our application of materiality 
6.1. Materiality 

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the 

economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both 

in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 

Materiality $28.3m (2024: $34.4m) 

Basis for 

determining 

materiality 

1% of total debt (2024: 1% of total debt) 

Rationale for the 

benchmark 

applied 

We determined materiality based on total debt as we consider MCF’s debt holders to be 
primary users of the financial statements given their interest in the financial position and 
performance of MCF as creditors of the company. 

 

6.2. Performance materiality 

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, 

uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Performance 

materiality was set at 70% of materiality for the 2025 audit (2024: 70%). In determining performance materiality, we 

considered the following factors: 

a) the quality of the control environment and whether we were able to rely on controls, 
b) the low number of corrected an uncorrected misstatements identified in the previous audit. 

 

6.3. Error reporting threshold 

We agreed with the directors that we would report to the directors all audit differences in excess of $1.4m (2024: 

$1.7m), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We 

also report to the directors on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit 
7.1. Scoping 

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment, including internal control, and 

assessing the risks of material misstatement. Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstatement was 

performed directly by the audit engagement team.  

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment  

We identified the key IT systems relevant to the audit to be those related to financial reporting. With the involvement 

of our IT audit specialists, we tested and placed reliance on the general IT controls of these key systems. 

With respect to business processes, we tested and relied on controls over the majority of business processes. 

8. Other information 
 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and 

our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual 

report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 

explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether 

this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 

fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

9. Responsibilities of directors 
 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of 

the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 
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10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud 
 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 

line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 

fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities 

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-

compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following: 

 the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of 
the company’s remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance 
targets; 

 results of our enquiries of management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of 
irregularities, including those that are specific to the company’s sector;  

 any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the company’s documentation of their policies and 
procedures relating to: 
o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any 

instances of non-compliance; 
o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected 

or alleged fraud; 
o the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations; 

 the matters discussed among the audit engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the 
financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud. 

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation 

for fraud. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are required to perform specific procedures to respond to 

the risk of management override. 

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the company operates in, focusing on 

provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the UK 

Companies Act and tax legislation. 

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial 

statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the company’s ability to operate or to avoid a material 

penalty. 
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11.2. Audit response to risks identified 

As a result of performing the above, we did not identify any key audit matters related to the potential risk of fraud or 

non-compliance with laws and regulations. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following: 

 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance 
with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial 
statements; 

 enquiring of management and legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims; 
 performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks 

of material misstatement due to fraud; 
 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and 

reviewing correspondence with HMRC; and 
 in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of 

journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting 
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant 
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business. 

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team 

members, including internal specialists and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws 

and regulations throughout the audit. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

 the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the 

audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report. 

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 

13.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records 

 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or 
 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or 
 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
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13.2. Directors’ remuneration 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ 

remuneration have not been made. 

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter. 

14. Use of our report 
 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 

Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those 

matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 
 

Emma Clayton (CA) (Senior statutory auditor) 

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 

Statutory Auditor 

London, United Kingdom 

12 August 2025 
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Income statement for the year ended 31 March 2025 
 

 
 
The results shown in the income statement are derived wholly from continuing activities. 
 

The accompanying notes 1 to 27 form an integral part of the financial statements.  

 

2025 2024
Notes $m $m

Interest income 4 186.5 178.1
Interest expense 4 (145.2) (155.5)
Net interest income 41.3 22.6

Trading income 4 10.3 8.4
Trading expenses 4 (2.1) (1.9)
Other gains and losses 6 (7.1) 20.6
Total operating income 42.4 49.7

Administrative expenses (6.1) (5.9)

Profit before taxation 36.3 43.8

Tax 9 (19.2) (19.0)

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders 17.1 24.8
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2025 

 

 
 

 

2025 2024
Notes $m $m

Profit for the year 17.1 24.8

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Unrealised gains/(losses) on derivative hedges (0.4) (7.2)

Tax on fair value movements taken directly to equity 9 0.1 1.8

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of income tax (0.3) (5.4)

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the period attributable to shareholders 16.8 19.4
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Statement of financial position at 31 March 2025 
  

  
The financial statements on pages 20 to 71 were approved by the board of Directors and authorised for issue on 12 
August 2025 and were signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
A. Yoshimi 
Managing Director and CEO  

Company Registration Number: 1865061 

The accompanying notes 1 to 27 form an integral part of the accounts.  

2025 2024
Notes $m $m

Non-current assets
Loans and other receivables 10 276.1 793.0
Investments at amortised cost 11 78.1 92.6
Property, plant and equipment 12 0.1 -                  
Right-of-use assets 18 0.4 0.7
Derivative financial instruments 13 61.0 73.2

415.7 959.5

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 14 280.1 188.2
Loans and other receivables 10 2,502.8 2,643.8
Tax receivable -                  2.0
Investments at amortised cost 11 68.4 35.2
Derivative financial instruments 13 35.3 80.0

2,886.6 2,949.2

Current liabilities
Borrowings 15 2,768.4 3,446.6
Trade and other payables 16 10.4 9.7
Tax payable 16 17.9 8.1
Lease liabilities 18 0.3 0.2
Derivative financial instruments 13 7.3 4.6

2,804.3 3,469.2

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 82.3 (520.0)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 15 68.5 -                  
Trade and other payables 16 -                  1.4
Lease liabilities 18 0.1 0.4
Deferred tax liabilities 18 -                  0.1
Derivative financial instruments 13 0.2 0.4

68.8 2.3

NET ASSETS 429.2 437.2

Shareholder's equity
Ordinary share capital 19 90.0 90.0
Revaluation reserve 0.2 0.5
Retained earnings 339.0 346.7

Total shareholder's equity 429.2 437.2
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Share Retained Revaluation                Total
capital earnings reserve equity

$m $m $m $m

Balance at 1 April 2023 90.0 334.5 5.9 430.4

Profit for the period -                   24.8 -                  24.8

Other comprehensive income for the period
Gains on derivative hedges -                   -                  (7.2) (7.2)
Deferred tax -                   -                  1.8 1.8

Total other comprehensive income for the period -                   -                  (5.4) (5.4)

Total comprehensive income for the period -                   24.8 (5.4) 19.4

Dividend paid -                   (12.6) -                  (12.6)

Balance at 31 March 2024 90.0 346.7 0.5 437.2

Profit for the period -                   17.1 -                  17.1

Other comprehensive income for the period
Gains on derivative hedges -                   -                  (0.4) (0.4)
Deferred tax -                   -                  0.1 0.1

Total other comprehensive income for the period -                   -                  (0.3) (0.3)

Total comprehensive income for the period -                   17.1 (0.3) 16.8

Dividend paid -                   (24.8) -                  (24.8)

Balance at 31 March 2025 90.0 339.0 0.2 429.2
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2025 
 
 

 

2025 2024
Notes $m $m

Cash flows from operating activities

Loans to group companies 732.9 (93.9)
Derivatives from hedging loans 8.0 29.3
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (7.0) (0.4)

Cash generated from operations 733.9 (65.0)

Interest received 97.2 118.9
Tax paid (8.6) (9.8)

Net cash from operating activities 822.5 44.1

Cash flows from investing activities
Investments in financial assets (12.6) -                  
Derivatives from hedging investments in financial assets (1.2) -                  
Interest received 32.0 15.8

Net cash from investing activities 18.2 15.8

Cash flows from financing activities
EMTN 15      38.5 -                  
Commercial Paper 15      (1,166.9) 1,206.5
Repurchase agreements 15      16.9 0.5
Bank and group loans 15      429.5 (1,186.0)
Derivatives from financing foreign currencies 34.4 (7.2)
Lease payments (0.3) (0.3)
Interest paid (95.9) (131.6)
Dividend paid (24.8) (12.5)

Net cash used in financing activities (768.6) (130.6)

Effect of exchange rate changes 19.8 24.1

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 91.9 (46.5)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 14      188.2 234.8

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 14      280.1 188.2
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 
  
1. General information 
 

Mitsubishi Corporation Finance PLC is a company incorporated in United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. 

The Company is a public company, limited by shares. 
 

It is domiciled and incorporated in the UK under the laws of England and Wales and is a wholly owned subsidiary of 

its ultimate holding and controlling company, Mitsubishi Corporation (“MC”), which is incorporated in Japan.  

 
 
The nature of the Company’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the strategic report. 
 
The financial statements are stated in millions of US dollars ($m), which is the functional currency of the Company. 
 

2. Adoption of new and revised standards 
 

The following amendments to IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) became 

mandatory for accounting periods that began on or after 1 January 2024. 

 

 Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
 Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 
 Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures titled Supplier 

Finance Arrangements 
 Amendments to IFRS 16: Leases-Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback  

 

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 1, published in January 2020, for the first time in the current year. 

The amendments affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non-current in the statement of financial position 

and not the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed 

about those items. The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on 

rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is unaffected by expectations 

about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability, explain that rights are in existence if 

covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear 

that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.  

The amendments did not have an impact on The Company’s financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 1, published in November 2022, for the first time in the current year. 
The amendments specify that only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the 
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 
date (and therefore must be considered in assessing the classification of the liability as current or non-current). Such 
covenants affect whether the right exists at the end of the reporting period, even if compliance with the covenant is 
assessed only after the reporting date (e.g. a covenant based on the entity’s financial position at the reporting date that 
is assessed for compliance only after the reporting date). The IASB also specifies that the right to defer settlement of a 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date is not affected if an entity only has to comply with a covenant 
after the reporting period. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying 
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables users of 
financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting 
period. This would include information about the covenants (including the nature of the covenants and when the entity  
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Adoption of new and revised standards (continued) 
 

is required to comply with them), the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that 
indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants. 

The amendments did not have an impact on The Company’s financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures titled Supplier 
Finance Arrangements 

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 titled Supplier Finance Arrangements for the first time 

in the current year. The amendments add a disclosure objective to IAS 7 stating that an entity is required to disclose 

information about its supplier finance arrangements that enables users of financial statements to assess the effects of 

those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows. In addition, IFRS 7 is amended to add supplier finance 

arrangements as an example within the requirements to disclose information about an entity’s exposure to concentration 

of liquidity risk. 

The amendments did not have an impact on The Company’s financial statements. 

Amendments to IFRS 16: Leases-Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 

The Company has adopted the amendments to IFRS 16 for the first time in the current year. The amendments to IFRS 

16 add subsequent measurement requirements for sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the requirements in IFRS 

15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to be accounted for as a sale. The amendments require the seller-lessee to 

determine ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ such that the seller-lessee does not recognise a gain or loss that 

relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee, after the commencement date. The amendments do not affect the 

gain or loss recognised by the seller-lessee relating to the partial or full termination of a lease. Without these new 

requirements, a seller-lessee may have recognised a gain on the right of use it retains solely because of a remeasurement 

of the lease liability (for example, following a lease modification or change in the lease term) applying the general 

requirements in IFRS 16. This could have been particularly the case in a leaseback that includes variable lease payments 

that do not depend on an index or rate. As part of the Amendments, the IASB amended an Illustrative Example in IFRS 

16 and added a new example to illustrate the subsequent measurement of a right-of-use asset and lease liability in a sale 

and leaseback transaction with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate. The illustrative examples 

also clarify that the liability that arises from a sale and leaseback transaction that qualifies as a sale applying IFRS 15 is 

a lease liability. 

A seller-lessee applies the amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 to sale and leaseback transactions 

entered into after the date of initial application, which is defined as the beginning of the annual reporting period in which 

the entity first applied IFRS 16. 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised 
IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective. 
 

 Amendments to IAS 21:  Lack of Exchangeability  

 IFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements 
 IFRS 19: Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 

 
The directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the 
financial statements of the Group in future periods. 
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3. Material accounting policy information 
 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international 

accounting standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB), and with those parts of the Companies Act applicable to companies reporting under IFRSs. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial 
instruments. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements, all of which have been applied 
consistently throughout the year, are set out below. 
 
Going concern  
 
The Company makes regular assessments of whether it can continue as a going concern in light of current economic 
conditions and information regarding the risks and uncertainties it is expected to face. These assessments include, but 
are not limited to: 
 

 Financial planning: The Company prepares forward looking business plans, including forecasted long and 
short-term financing needs of its MC Group company customers. 

 
 Availability of funding: As detailed in note 15 of these accounts and the Directors’ report, the Company 

maintains a diverse funding programme. At the reporting date, net current assets were $82.3m, compared to a 
net current liability position of $519.9m in the previous year. As detailed in the notes to the account, including 
within note 15, the Company has a diverse source of funding facilities and expects that current funding will be 
more than sufficient to fulfil its funding needs over the coming 12 months. 

 
 Guarantees and funding from the parent company: The Company expects the parent company to guarantee all 

obligations under its EMTN and ECP programmes. 
 

 Payments from Russian counterparty: In light of the continuing conflict in Ukraine, the Company is in close 
dialogue with the management of the Russian entity regarding the conditions under which they are operating 
and the effect economic certainty is expected to have on its financial performance, at the reporting date the 
Directors are confident that all obligations that have not yet been met due to capital restrictions imposed by the 
CBR will eventually be fulfilled. If restrictions persist for the longer term, the Company has recourse to legal 
guarantees from the parent company, which are a pre-requisite of such lending. 

 
In light of these reviews, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for a period of at least 12 months from the approval of the financial statements.  
Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts. 
 
 
a) Revenue Recognition 

 

The Company recognises revenue from the following sources: 

 

- net interest income on financial assets and financial liabilities 

- gains and losses on derivatives 

- foreign exchange sales fee 

- service fee income 

 

Net interest income on financial assets and financial liabilities 

 

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest-bearing financial instruments 

classified as amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) as defined in the applicable contractual rates. Interest  
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on derivatives executed as fair value hedges for assets and liabilities is reported on a net basis under interest income and 

interest expense respectively. 

 

In the case where the Company applies hedge accounting the net interest income on the hedging instrument is set off 

against the net interest income of the hedge item. 

 

Gains and losses arising from derivatives 

 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into, and 

subsequently re-measured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as 

liabilities when their fair value is negative. Fair value movements exclude interest and are shown separately within other 

gains and losses. 

 

Foreign exchange sales fee 

 

The Company enters into spot, forward and swap foreign exchange contracts with MC Group companies. Income from 

these transactions is recognised after the transaction has been traded and is invoiced to the customer quarterly in arrears. 

 

Service fee income 

 

The Company provides management services to several MC Group companies. These income for these services is 

recognised after the service has been provided and is invoiced quarterly in arrears. 

 
Foreign currency translation 
 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured in US dollars. Whilst domiciled in the UK, the 

company grants loans in a variety of currencies, with USD denominated loans making up 47% of transactions in the 

reporting period (2024: 30%) which is considered the functional currency of the Company. 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate prevailing 

at the year end. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 

translations of these items at year end exchange rates are recognised in the income statement. 

 

b) Financial assets and liabilities 

 

The accounting policies for fair value, financial assets, financial liabilities and derivatives are set out as follows: 
 
Fair value 

 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 

parties within an arm’s length transaction. 

 

Financial instruments measured at fair value on an on-going basis include trading assets and liabilities, instruments 

designated at fair value (such as financial liabilities), derivatives and financial assets measured at FVTPL. 

 
Determination of fair value 

 
Fair values are determined according to the following hierarchy that reflects the degree to which fair value is observable. 
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a) Level 1: Quoted market price 
Financial instruments valued with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. 

 
b) Level 2: Valuation technique using observable inputs 
Financial instruments with valuations derived from inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are 
significantly observable for the asset or liability either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). 

 
c) Level 3: Valuation technique with non-observable inputs 
Financial instruments with valuations derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 

liability that are not based on significant observable market data. 

 

The best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market. In the event that the market for a financial 

instrument is not active, a valuation technique is used. The majority of valuation techniques only use observable market 

data, and so the reliability of the fair value measurement is high. However, certain financial instruments are valued on 

the basis of valuation techniques that feature one or more significant market inputs that are not observable. For these 

instruments, the fair value derived is more judgemental. ‘Not observable’ in this context means that there are few or no 

current market data available from which to determine the level at which an arm’s length transaction would likely occur, 

but it generally does not mean that there is absolutely no market data available upon which to base a determination of 

fair value (historical data may, for example, be used). Furthermore, the assessment of hierarchy level is based on the 

lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value of the financial instrument. 

 

The valuation models used where quoted market prices are not available incorporate certain assumptions that the 

Company anticipates would be used by a third-party market participant to establish fair value. Where MCF believes 

that there are additional considerations not included within the valuation model, appropriate adjustments may be made. 

 
Examples of such adjustments are: 
 

- Credit risk adjustment: an adjustment to reflect the creditworthiness of over-the-counter (OTC) derivative 

counterparties. 

- Market data/model uncertainty: an adjustment to reflect uncertainties in fair values based on unobservable 

market data   inputs (for example, as a result of illiquidity) or in areas where the choice of valuation model is 

particularly subjective. 
 
 

Financial assets 

 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 

way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 

established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently 

in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 

 

Classification of financial assets 

 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

 

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows; and 

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

 

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 

cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

All other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

 

Despite the foregoing, the Company may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of 

a financial asset: 

 

- the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 

other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met (see (iii) below); and 

- the Company may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria 

as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 

 

Amortised cost and effective interest method 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 

interest income over the relevant period. 

 

For financial assets the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including 

all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 

appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 

 

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus 

the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between 

that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial 

asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance. 

 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at 

amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 

to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become 

credit‑impaired (see below). 

 

For financial assets that have subsequently become credit‑impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 

effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on 

the credit‑impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit‑impaired, interest income 

is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

 

The Company classified Loans and receivables of $3,439m (2023: $3,366m) and Investment Securities of $127.7m 

(2023: $125.1m) as debt instruments that are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
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i) Financial assets at FVTPL 

 

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (see (i) and (ii) above) 

are measured at FVTPL. Specifically, debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria (see (i) to (ii) above) are classified as at FVTPL. 

 

In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as 

at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 

inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the 

gains and losses on them on different bases. 

 

At the reporting date the Company did not hold financial assets classified as at FVTPL (2024:$ nil). 

 

Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are 
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, trade receivables and financial commitment contracts. The amount of 
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
respective financial instrument. 
 
 
Expected Loss in the event of default 
 
88% of the Company’s lending is supported by legal guarantees from its parent company (2024: 88%). These credit 
enhancements, being based on the creditworthiness of the parent company, are factored into the ECL so as to estimate 
the expected loss the Company would incur if any of the guaranteed loans were to default. 
 
The Company takes a simplified approach for trade receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are 
calculated for assets which are more than 90 days overdue. 
 
For all other financial instruments, the Company recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 
12‑month ECL. 
 
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12‑month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result 
from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 
 

(i) Significant increase in credit risk 
 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Company 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward‑looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward‑looking information 
considered includes, amongst other things a consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic 
information that relate to the Company’s core operations. 
 
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition: 
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- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal 
credit rating; 

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument. E.g., 
a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time or 
the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised cost; 

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a 
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; 

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 
- significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; 
- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of 

the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 
 
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Company presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition if the internal credit rating for the financial asset drops into internal 
“watch” status or when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless The Company has reasonable and 
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 
 
Despite the foregoing, The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: 
 

- the financial instrument has a low risk of default, 
- the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and 
- adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce 

the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 
 
The Company considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment 
Grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an 
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and there are no 
past due amounts. 
 
The Company regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant 
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due. 
 

(ii) Definition of default 
 
The Company considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes 
as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria are generally not 
recoverable: 
 

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or 
- information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay 

its creditors, including the Company, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by The Company). 
 

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Company considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 
90 days past due unless The Company has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate. 
 

(iii) Credit‑impaired financial assets 
 
A financial asset is credit‑impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit‑impaired includes observable data 
about the following events: 
 

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; 

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above); 
- the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, 

having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; 
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- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 
- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 

 
 

(iv) Write‑off policy 
 
The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g., when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has 
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, 
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s 
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit 
or loss. 
 

(v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 
 
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e., the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The probability of default is derived from internal 
credit rating systems incorporating internal rating grades and historical data of default rates for similarly rated financial 
instruments or counterparties. 
 
In the event of a default, the loss given default is assessed in respect of the quality of collateral and other credit 
enhancements. In general, loans to MC Group companies are supported by credit enhancements by way of letters of 
guarantee from the parent company. If such loans were to default, the Company is able to seek recompense from MC 
Tokyo for obligations that have not been met. The expected credit loss for guaranteed loans therefore incorporates the 
probability of default of MC Tokyo, as derived from internal credit rating system when calculating the loss given default. 
 
As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the 
reporting date; for financial commitment contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting 
date (reported as loans and receivables), together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future 
by default date determined based on historical trend, the Company’s understanding of the specific future financing needs 
of the debtors, and other relevant forward‑looking information. 
 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 
due to the Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a financial commitment contract, as the Company could be required 
to make additional lending, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows 
that are due to the Company in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 
If the Company has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the 
previous reporting period but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer 
met, the Company measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12‑month ECL at the current reporting date, 
except for assets for which simplified approach was used. 
 
The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt instruments that 
are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the investment revaluation reserve and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statement of 
financial position. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 
If the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it 
may have to pay. 
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If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, The Company 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received, and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition 
of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in 
the investment’s revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated 

either: 

 

(i) at amortised cost: any difference between proceeds (net of transactions costs) and the redemption value is 

recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method; or 

 

(ii) as financial liabilities – designated at fair value through the income statement. The fair value option is used by the 

Company where the liabilities would otherwise be measured at amortised cost, the associated derivatives used to 

economically hedge the risk are held at fair value, and it is not practical to apply hedge accounting. 

 

In certain circumstances, the Company applies the fair value option to its own debt in issue. Where available, the fair 

value will be based upon quoted prices in an active market for the specific instrument concerned. Where unavailable, 

the fair value will either be based upon quoted prices in an inactive market for the specific instrument concerned or 

estimated by comparison with quoted prices in an active market for similar instruments. 

 

For long-term loans and EMTNs, the fair values have been calculated using a discounted cash flow model based on a 

current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity. The fair value of these instruments therefore includes 

the effect of the appropriate credit spread to apply to the Company’s liabilities. Provided that the debt is not repaid early, 

gains and losses arising from changes in the credit spread of liabilities issued by the Company reverse over the 

contractual life of the debt. 

 
Other financial liabilities  

 
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the applicable contractual rates. 

 

Funds received under repurchase agreements are included in borrowings. The difference between the sale and 

repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest method. 

 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. When the Company exchanges with the existing lender 

one debt instrument into another one with the substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an 

extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Company 

accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original 

financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
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It is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new 

terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per 

cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the 

modification is not substantial, the difference between: 

 

- the carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and  

- the present value of the cash flows after modification should be recognised in profit or loss as the modification 

gain or loss within other gains and losses. 

 
c) Derivative financial instruments  

 

The Company enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign 

exchange rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps. Further details of derivative 

financial instruments are disclosed in note 13. 

 

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately 

unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition 

in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. 

 

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value 

is recognised as a financial liability. 

 

Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Company has both legal right and intention to offset. 

 

A derivative is presented as a non‑current asset or a non‑current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is 

more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented 

as current assets or current liabilities. 

 

d) Hedge Accounting 

 

The Company designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest rate 

risk in fair value hedges and cash flow hedges. 

 

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Company documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 

and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge 

transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Company documents whether the 

hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the 

hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements: 

 

- there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument; 

- the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and 

- the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item 

that the Company actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Company actually uses 

to hedge that quantity of hedged item. 
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If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk 

management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Company adjusts the hedge ratio 

of the hedging relationship (i.e., rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again. 

 

The Company designates the full change in the fair value of a forward contract (i.e., including the forward elements) as 

the hedging instrument for all of its hedging relationships involving forward contracts. 

 

The Company designates only the intrinsic value of option contracts as a hedged item, i.e., excluding the time value of 

the option. The changes in the fair value of the aligned time value of the option are recognised in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in the cost of hedging reserve. 

 

If the hedged item is transaction‑related, the time value is reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects 

profit or loss. If the hedged item is time‑period related, then the amount accumulated in the cost of hedging reserve is 

reclassified to profit or loss on a rational basis – the Company applies straight‑line amortisation. Those reclassified 

amounts are recognised in profit or loss in the same line as the hedged item. Note 24 sets out details of the fair values 

of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Movements in the hedging reserve in equity are detailed in 

Statement of changes in Equity. 

 

Fair value hedges 

The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount of a hedged 

item not already measured at fair value is adjusted for the fair value change attributable to the hedged risk with 

a corresponding entry in profit or loss. For debt instruments measured at FVTOCI, the carrying amount is not adjusted 

as it is already at fair value, but the hedging gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss instead of other comprehensive 

income. Where hedging gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss, they are recognised in the same line as the 

hedged item. 

 

The Company discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet the 

qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is 

sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to 

profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain 

or loss accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified immediately to profit or loss. 

 

e) Lease accounting 

 

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Company recognises 
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, 
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets 
(such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). For these leases, the Company 
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are 
consumed. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Company uses its 
incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
 

 Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable 
 The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees 
 The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and 
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 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate 
the lease. 

 
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability 
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. 
 
The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) 
whenever: 

 The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in 
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate. 

 
 The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 

guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 
 

 A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case 
the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease 
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. 

 
The Company did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented. 
 
The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or 
before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Whenever the Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which 
it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision 
is recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included 
in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease 
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Company expects to 
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The 
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 
 
The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
The Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired. 
 
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement the lease liability and the 
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line “Other expenses” in profit or loss. 
 
There were no such payments in the reporting period. 
 
As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any 

lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Company has not used this practical expedient. 

 

For a contract that contain a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Company 

allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the 

lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. 

 
The Company does not act as lessor in any lease contracts. 
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3. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 
 
f) Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that The Company will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation. 

 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 

at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is 

measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 

cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 

a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the 

receivable can be measured reliably. 

 
g) Taxation 

 

The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 

Current tax 

 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in 

profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 

excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax 

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain, but it is considered probable 

that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the best estimate of the 

amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement within the Company supported by 

previous experience in respect of such activities. 

 

Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is 

accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 

differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 

temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither 

the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred 

tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised 

based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. The measurement of 

deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company 

expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 
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3. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

 
h) Property, plant and equipment  

 

All property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment. 

 

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value on a straight-line basis 

over its expected useful life, as follows: 

 

Office equipment   - 3 years 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings   - 5 years 

 

i) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

 Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. Cash and cash equivalents includes 

cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, net deposits held within the Company’s cash pooling system and other 

short-term highly liquid investments, including reverse repurchase agreements, with original maturities of three months 

or less.  Bank overdrafts, including net overdraft positions within the Company’s cash pooling system are shown within 

borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

 

 Cash pooling scheme 

  

As part of the regional liquidity management of the MC Group, the Company provides a cash pooling scheme to MC 

Group companies (Cash Pool Participants) in the region, under which the Company makes available a series of currency 

specific cash pooling arrangements. These cash pooling arrangements enable the operation of a daily sweep of cash to 

or from each Cash Pool Participant. Within each currency cash pool there are a series of bank accounts held by the 

Company, one corresponding to each Cash Pool Participant, which facilitate this daily cash sweep. Accordingly, at the 

balance sheet date the Company has a number of bank accounts with the same counterparty bank and the overall net 

balance within each currency cash pool will consist of the aggregation of each of these bank accounts. Interest is charged 

to or earned by each currency cash pool based on the aggregate balance within each pool and then reallocated to Cash 

Pool Participants based on their relative contribution to each Pool.  The Company has determined, based on a detailed 

assessment of the cash pooling arrangement, that all of the accounts held by the Company associated with a specific 

currency cash pool represent a single unit of account. Accordingly, the aggregate net position of each currency cash 

pool is presented in the statement of financial position. 

j) Share capital 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

 

k) Segmental reporting 

The Directors consider that the Company has one operating segment, being treasury. The geographical spread of the 

Company’s client base is diverse and includes the UK and the EU as well as MC Group companies in Chile and 

elsewhere. A geographical analysis, based on the residency of the counterparty, of the sources of revenue is shown in 

note 4.  

 

l) Retirement and termination benefit costs 

 

The Company maintains a defined contribution plan for all employees. Payments to defined contribution retirement 

benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 
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3. Material accounting policy information (continued) 
 

m) Critical accounting judgements 

 

 The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with IFRS require the Directors to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of financial 

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and associated 

assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 

of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These judgements include the following: 

 

 
(i) Significant increase in credit risk 

  

As explained above, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12‑month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for 

stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial 

recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit 

risk of an asset has significantly increased the Company takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and 

supportable forward-looking information, which is both publicly available and internally sourced. 

 
n) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

The Company makes assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation when preparing financial 

statements. The Company considers the risk of these estimations requiring adjustment in the next financial year as very 

low. 

 

One area where the Company makes an estimation that carries some uncertainty is in its assessment of the probability 

that any of its loans and receivables will not be paid on time. This probability of default constitutes a key input in 

measuring ECL and associated calculations of loss allowances. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of  

default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of 

future conditions. A sensitivity analysis, disclosing the financial impact of a doubling of the probability of a loan 

defaulting is shown in note 21. 

 

Calculation of loss allowance 

 

When measuring ECL the Company uses the MC Group’s internal credit ratings model which uses various sources of 

information to obtain estimates of the probability of default and the actual loss that would incur in the event of assets 

going into default.  These are based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how 

these drivers will affect each other. As noted in the accounts, credit enhancements from the parent company, by way of 

letters of guarantee are considered when calculating loss allowances for group lending. 
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4. Analysis of net income 
 
Included in net income are the following: 

 

 
 

As per the strategic report, the Company has a diverse client bases spread across many regions and countries. The 

below table provides an analysis of interest income by geography. 

 

 
The majority of external interest income is from the Company’s holding of Investment Securities. 

 

Interest Expense is made up as follows: 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  

2025 2024
Interest income $m $m

Investments - Interest recognised on financial assets 1.7 1.1
- Interest recognised on impaired financial assets 0.8 0.8

Loans and receivables - Held at amortised cost 158.4 124.0
- Fair value hedges - effective 8.4 18.2

Derivatives 17.2 34.0
186.5 178.1

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
$m $m $m $m $m $m

United Kingdom 38.0 53.6 52.2 24.4 90.2 78.0
European Union 20.5 14.7 13.5 23.5 34.0 38.2

Chile 42.4 40.8 -                  -                  42.4 40.8
Rest of World 17.5 18.4 2.4 2.7 19.9 21.1

Total Interest Income 118.4 127.5 68.1 50.6 186.5 178.1

Internal External Total

2025 2024
$m $m

Financial liabilities - Held at amortised cost (145.2) (155.5)
- Designated at fair value through the income statement -                  -                  

- Fair value hedges - effective -                  -                  

Derivatives -                  -                  

(145.2) (155.5)

Net Interest Income 41.3 22.6

2025 2024
Gains/(losses) arising from fair value hedges $m $m
Hedging instruments (15.1) (7.4)
Hedged item attributable to hedged risk 16.1 13.5

1.0 6.1
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4. Analysis of net income (continued) 
 

 

 

5. Profit for the year  
 

 

6. Other gains and losses 
 

 

2025 2024
Trading Income $m $m

Recovery of foreign tax from group company 10.3 8.3
Gain on group loan termination -                  0.1

10.3 8.4

2025 2024
Trading Expenses $m $m

Guarantee Fees payable to parent company (1.9) (1.8)
Bank charges & other fees (0.2) (0.1)

(2.1) (1.9)

2025 2024
$m $m

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:
Staff costs 2.9 2.7
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0.3 0.3

Auditor's remuneration:
Fees payable for audit of Company's annual accounts 0.3 0.3
Fees payable for other services pursuant to legislation 0.2 0.1

0.5 0.4

2025 2024
$m $m

Gain on derivative hedges 3.8 55.9
Foreign exchange loss (10.9) (35.3)

Net gain/(loss) on derivative hedges (7.1) 20.6
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7. Staff costs 

 
  
The Directors of the Company have their contracts of service with the ultimate holding and controlling company, 

Mitsubishi Corporation, which is incorporated in Japan. However, their remuneration for services performed as 

Directors of the Company was paid by the Company as disclosed in note 8. 

 

 

8. Remuneration of key personnel and Directors’ emoluments 
 

 
 

 

The total amounts above are classified as ‘salaries and short-term employee benefits’ for ‘Key management 

compensation’ disclosure purposes and relate to one Director. The remaining Directors are renumerated by other 

companies within the Mitsubishi Corporation Group and are not recharged to the Company.  

 

Retirement benefits are accruing to three Directors (2024: three Directors) under MC’s defined benefit scheme. 

 

No compensation for loss of office was paid to retiring Directors (2024: $nil). 
  

2025 2024
$m $m

Staff costs excluding directors' remuneration consist of:
Wages and salaries 2.5 2.3
Social security costs 0.2 0.2
Staff defined contribution retirement scheme 0.2 0.2

2.9 2.7

Categories: No. No.
Management grades 6 7
Staff grades 6 6

Average number of persons employed by the Company (excluding Directors) 12 13

2025 2024
$m $m

Aggregate emoluments 0.3 0.3

Aggregate emoluments of highest paid director 0.3 0.3
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9. Taxation 
 

The main rate of corporation tax in the UK is 25% for both current and previous years. 

i. The tax charge comprises: 

 

 
 

ii. The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit in the income statement as follows: 

 

  

 
iii. Tax recognised in other comprehensive income 

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised 

in other comprehensive income: 

 

 
 
  

2025 2024
$m $m

Analysis of tax expense related to profit from ordinary activities:
Corporation tax current year 7.6 9.3
Total foreign tax 12.0 9.9
Group relief on previous tax years (0.4) (0.2)

19.2 19.0

2025 2024

$m $m

Profit before tax 36.3 43.8

Tax at the current standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 25% (2024: 25%) 9.2 11.0
Net foreign tax 10.3 8.2

Effects of:
Expenses not deductible and items chargeable in determining taxable profit (0.3) (0.2)

Tax expense for the year 19.2 19.0

2025 2024
$m $m

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currency basis spread movement 0.1 1.8

Total income tax recognised in other comprehensive income 0.1 1.8
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10.  Loans and other receivables 

 
 

In addition to the loan advances shown above, the Company had un-utilised loan facilities available to its 

counterparties of $4,737.9m (2024: $6,233.4m). 

 

The management of credit risk and associated loss allowance for loans and receivables is disclosed separately in Note 

21. 

 

 

 

2025 2024
$m $m

Current
Loans 2,425.2 2,608.2
Prepayments and accrued income 62.1 32.5
Expected credit loss (0.1) (0.1)
Amounts due from group companies 2,487.2 2,640.6

Loans 10.8 -                  
Accrued interest receivable 4.7 3.0
Prepayments and accrued income 0.1 0.1
Tax receivable -                  2.0
Amounts due from third parties 15.6 5.1

Total current assets 2,502.8 2,645.7

Non-current
Loans 239.4 583.5

Amounts due from group companies 239.4 583.5

Loans 36.7 209.5
Amounts due from third parties 36.7 209.5

Total non-current assets 276.1 793.0
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11.  Investments 
 

 

 
 

The Company makes an assessment of the Expected Credit Loss arising from its investments. The Expected Credit Loss 
for such investments is below the $0.1m reporting threshold. 

  

2025 2024
$m $m

At  1 April 127.8 125.1
Purchases 48.6 -               
Redemptions (36.0) -               

Gains/(losses) from fair value hedge accounting 6.1 2.7

At  31 March 146.5 127.8

Of which:

Current 68.4 35.2

Non-current 78.1 92.6
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12.  Property, plant and equipment 
 

The movement in property, plant and equipment in the year was as follows: 

 

 
  

Furn. fixtures, Office
& fittings equipment Total

$m $m $m
Cost
At 1 April 2024 0.1 0.3 0.4
Disposals -                   (0.1) (0.1)
At 31st March 2025 0.1 0.2 0.3

Depreciation
At 1 April 2024 0.1 0.3 0.4
Disposals -                   (0.1) (0.1)
At 31st March 2025 0.1 0.2 0.3

Carrying amount
At 1 April 2024 -                   -                     -                  

At 31st March 2025 -                   -                     -                  

Cost
At 1 April 2023 0.1 0.4 0.5
Disposals -                   (0.1) (0.1)
At 31 March 2024 0.1 0.3 0.4

Depreciation
At 1 April 2023 0.1 0.3 0.4
Charge for the year -                   0.1 0.1
Disposal for the year -                   (0.1) (0.1)
At 31 March 2024 0.1 0.3 0.4

Carrying amount
At 1 April 2023 -                   0.1 0.1

At 31 March 2024 -                   -                     -                  
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13. Derivative financial instruments 
The Company uses the following derivative instruments: 
 

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase or sell foreign and domestic currency, including undelivered 

spot transactions. Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractual obligations to receive or pay a net amount 

based on changes in currency rates or interest rates, or to buy or sell foreign currency or a financial instrument on a 

future date at a specified price, established in an organised financial market. Forward rate agreements are individually 

negotiated interest rate futures that call for a cash settlement at a future date for the difference between a contracted rate 

of interest and the current market rate, based on a notional principal amount. 

 
Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an 

economic exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or a combination of all these 

(i.e., cross-currency interest rate swaps). 

  

Foreign currency and interest rate options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser 

(holder) the right, but not the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by a set date or during a 

set period, a specific amount of a foreign currency or a financial instrument at a predetermined price. The seller receives 

a premium from the purchaser in consideration for the assumption of foreign exchange or interest rate risk. Options may 

be either exchange-traded or negotiated between the Company and a customer (OTC). The Company is exposed to 

credit risk on purchased options only, and only to the extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value. 

 

The Company uses the following instruments to hedge various economic risks: 

 

a) Cross-currency interest rate swaps to hedge foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from EMTNs 

issued. 

b) Interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risk arising from EMTNs issued and loans granted to related parties. 

c) Forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange risk arising from positions held in a currency 

other than the base currency (USD).   

 

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments 

recognised on the statement of financial position but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows 

involved or the current fair value of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Company’s exposure to credit or 

price risks. The derivative instruments become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations 

in market interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative to their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional amount 

of derivative financial instruments on hand, the extent to which instruments are favourable or unfavourable, and thus 

the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities, can fluctuate significantly from time to time. The 

fair values of derivative instruments held are set out below. 
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13.  Derivative financial instruments (continued) 
 

 

 
14.  Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 

 

Fair value Fair value

Notional Notional
amount Asset Liabilities amount Asset Liabilities

$m $m $m $m $m $m
Derivatives held for trading

Interest rate swaps 900.0 0.4 0.3 600.0 0.4 0.4
Forward rate contracts 1,547.1 33.0 6.9 977.8 65.0 4.4

At 31 March 33.4 7.2 65.4 4.8

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges

Cross currency swaps 42.2 0.8 -               41.3 10.4 -           
Interest rate swaps 518.2 62.1 0.3 669.0 77.4 0.2

At 31 March 62.9 0.3 87.8 0.2

Total derivatives 96.3 7.5 153.2 5.0

Of which:

Current 35.3 7.3 80.0 4.6

Non-current 61.0 0.2 73.2 0.4

20242025

2025 2024
$m $m

Cash at bank and in hand 180.1 138.2
Short-term bank deposits 100.0 50.0

280.1 188.2
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15. Financial liabilities – borrowings 
 

 
 

At 31 March 2025 the Company's funding programmes include a $5bn multi-currency EMTN Programme (2024: $5bn), 

$4bn Euro Commercial Paper Programme (2024: $4bn) 

 

Under the terms of the EMTN Programme, the Company can issue notes under a wide variety of terms and conditions, 

which are fully set out in the prospectus, a copy of which is available at the registered office of the Company. 

 

EMTNs are primarily fixed rate instruments, some of which contain embedded derivative features and which are 

subsequently swapped into floating rates either using interest rate or cross currency swaps, based on the prevailing 

market rates at the time of issue. The commercial paper issuances are fixed rate short-term loans based on prevailing 

market rates at the time of issue. 

 
The below table shows cash and non-cash movements in borrowings and lease liabilities during the reporting period. 

 

 
 

Non-cash movements consist of FX revaluations, changes to fair value and changes to accrued positions. 

 

 

2025 2024
$m $m

Current
Medium term notes -                  30.0
Commercial paper 1,607.1 2,702.2
Overdraft -                  0.1
Short-term inter-company borrowings 1,022.9 597.6
External borrowings 4.8 -                  
Payables under repurchase agreements 133.6 116.7

2,768.4 3,446.6

Non current
Medium-term notes 68.5 -                  

68.5 -                  

Total borrowings 2,836.9 3,446.6

2024 2025
$m $m

EMTN 30.0 38.5 -                         68.5
Commercial paper 2,702.2 (1,166.9) 71.8 1,607.1
Short-term inter-company borrowings 597.6 429.5 0.5 1,027.6
Repurchase Agreements 116.7 16.9 -                         133.6
Lease Liabilities 0.6 (0.3) 0.1 0.4

3,447.1 (682.3) 72.4 2,837.2

Cash 
movements

Non cash
movements
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16. Trade and other payables 

 
 

17.  Deferred income tax 
 
The following are the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Company and movements thereon during the 

current and prior reporting period. The corporation tax rate increased from 19% to 25% from 1 April 2023. 

 

 
 

The Company has no unused trading or capital losses at the reporting date. 

 

 

2025 2024
$m $m

Current
Accrued interest payable 0.6 0.1
Amounts due to group company 9.1 8.7
Other creditors 0.3 0.2

Tax creditor 17.9 8.1
Accruals and deferred income 0.4 0.7

28.3 17.8
Non current
Amounts due to group company -                  1.4

-                  1.4

Total trade and other payables 28.3 19.2

Deferred tax 
asset/(liability)

$m

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 01 April 2023 (1.9)

Debit to equity 1.8

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 31 March 2024 (0.1)

Debit to equity 0.1

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 31 March 2025 -                          

2025 2024

$m $m
Deferred tax liabilities -                          (0.1)

Deferred tax asset/(liability) at 31 March -                          (0.1)
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18.  Lease commitments 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
Total cash outflow from lease obligations for 2024 was $0.3m 
 

The lease obligations relate to rental of office premises and office equipment and the Company expects to occupy these 

premises until at least September 2026. 

 

The rental of office space is subject to periodic review and therefore there is some risk that the value of these obligations 

may change before the end of September 2026. 

 

The lease has no residual value. 

 

2025 2024

Right of Use Asset

Opening Balance 0.7 1.0

Depreciation (0.3) (0.3)

Closing Balance 0.4 0.7

Lease Obligations

Opening Balance 0.7 0.9

Repayment of Lease Obligations (0.3) (0.3)

FX gains and losses (0.0) 0.0

Closing Balance 0.4 0.7

Lease Obligations due within 1 year 0.3 0.3

Lease Obligations due more than 1 year 0.1 0.4

Interest Charge during the year -                -                  

Maturity analysis $m

Year 1 0.3
Year 2 0.1

0.4
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19.  Share capital 
 

 

 

2025 2024
$m $m

Authorised:
10,000 ordinary shares of $10,000 each 100 100

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
9,000 ordinary shares of $10,000 each 90 90
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20.  Related party transactions 
 

Related parties are defined as the Company’s parent and its fellow subsidiaries, which the parent has control or 

significant influence of either directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries. 

 

Amounts due to and from companies which are related parties are shown in these financial statements. The following 

transactions took place with related parties at arm’s length during the financial year: 

 

 

 
 

  

31 March 2025 Fellow
Parent subsidiaries Total

Notes $m $m $m
Income statement

Interest income -                   108.1 108.1
Interest expense (5.3) (26.9) (32.2)

Net interest income (5.3) 81.2 75.9

Administrative income/(expenses) (2.6) 8.6 6.0
Gain on derivatives and hedge items (29.0) 1.0 (28.0)

Total profit/(loss) (36.9) 90.8 53.9

Statement of financial position

Assets
Loans and other receivables 10 -                   2,726.2 2,726.2
Right-of-use assets 18 -                   0.4 0.4
Derivative assets 29.7 0.2 29.9

29.7 2,726.8 2,756.5

Liabilities
Financial liabilities - borrowings 15 500.0 522.9 1,022.9
Trade and other payables 16 4.9 4.2 9.1
Lease liabilities 18 -                   0.4 0.4
Derivative liabilities -                   0.2 0.2

504.9 527.7 1,032.6
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20.  Related party transactions (continued) 

 

 
 

Of the $2,778.9m (2024: $3,438.8m) included in ‘Loans and other receivables’ (see note 10), $2,726.2m (2024: 

$3,244.2m) represents ‘loans and other receivables’ with related parties, of which   81% (2024: 88%) are guaranteed by 

the parent company. 

 

At the reporting date, restrictions on remittances from Russian entities to non-resident Russian entities imposed by the 

CBR resulted in $284.3m (2024: $225.2m) not being paid when due. The Company’s Russian debtor continues to be 

issued with payment waivers pending approval from the CBR to allow the remittance of their full obligations to the 

Company. All waivered payment remain covered by a Letter of Guarantee from MC Tokyo. 

 

Of the $1,022.9m (2024: $597.6m) included in ‘Financial liabilities – borrowings’ under ‘Short-term inter-company 

borrowings’, $500.0m (2024: $nil) represents loans from the parent company. Interest expense related to loans from the 

parent company during the year totalled $1.6m (2024: $5.7m). 

 

 

  

31 March 2024 Fellow
Parent subsidiaries Total

Notes $m $m $m
Income statement

Interest income 1.0 126.5 127.5
Interest expense (5.7) (42.4) (48.1)

Net interest income (4.7) 84.1 79.4

Administrative income/(expenses) 14.4 (0.4) 14.0
Loss on derivatives and hedge items 36.3 17.9 54.2

Total profit/(loss) 46.0 101.6 147.6

Statement of financial position

Assets
Loans and other receivables 10 -                   3,224.2 3,224.2
Right-of-use assets 18 -                   0.7 0.7
Derivative assets 62.3 1.8 64.1

62.3 3,226.7 3,289.0

Liabilities
Financial liabilities - borrowings 15 -                   597.6 597.6
Trade and other payables 16 3.9 6.2 10.1
Lease liabilities 18 -                   0.6 0.6

3.9 604.4 608.3



Mitsubishi Corporation Finance PLC 
 

 59

21.  Financial risk management 
 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest 

rate risk, cash flow interest-rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk 

management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 

effects on the Company’s financial performance by using derivative financial instruments to mitigate certain risk 

exposures identified below. 

 

1. Market risk 

 

(a) Foreign currency risk management 

 

The Company is mainly exposed to the currency fluctuations of Japanese Yen, British Pounds, and Euros relative to US 

Dollars.  The Company’s exposure to currency risk arises from changes in the prevailing foreign currency exchange 

rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Company has fair value hedges in place to hedge the economic foreign 

exchange rate risk. 

 

The Company’s policy is to actively manage all of its foreign currency positions.  As part of its normal operation, the 

Company borrows and invests in funds in currencies other than USD.  The foreign exchange risks of these activities are 

hedged within the Company limits which are approved by the Risk Committee. 

 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s net foreign currency denominated exposures at the reporting date are as 

follows: 

 

 
 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

 

 
 

The Company analyses sensitivity to a 10% strengthening/weakening of the US dollar against respective foreign 

currencies.  The 10% sensitivity rate is used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to senior management and 

represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 

analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the 

period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. 

 

 

 

2025 2024
$m $m

Exposure Exposure
Currency
Japanese Yen -                    0.5
Euros (0.6) (0.4)
British Pounds (5.8) (2.9)
Norwegian Krona 0.9 (0.3)
Russian Ruble 0.3 0.3

2025 2024
$m $m

Profit/(loss) Profit/(loss)
Currency
Euros 0.1 -                    
British Pounds 0.5 0.3
Norwegian Krona (0.1) -                    
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Interest rate risk management 

 
The Company’s interest-rate risk arises from long-term borrowings and investments. Borrowings issued at variable rates 

expose the Company to cash flow interest-rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Company to fair value 

interest-rate risk.  Additionally, fair value interest rate risk arises from investments. 

 

Interest rate risk is managed through the use of interest rate and cross currency swaps, in order to hedge against 

unfavorable market movements in the interest rates inherent in the underlying assets and liabilities. 

  

The Company manages its fair value interest rate risk by using fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps. Such interest-rate 

swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings from fixed rates to floating rates. Generally, the Company 

raises long-term borrowings at fixed rates and swaps them into floating rates that are lower than those available if the 

Company borrowed at floating rates directly. 

 

Under the interest rate swaps, the Company agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals (mainly 

quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the 

agreed notional principal amounts. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views and 

defined risk appetite; ensuring optimal hedging strategies are applied by either positioning the statement of financial 

position or protecting interest expense through different interest rate cycles. 

 

The carrying amounts and accumulated fair value adjustments of hedged items are as follows: 

 

 
 

31 March 2025
Nominal 
amount

Accumulated 
fair value 

adjustments
Carrying 
amount

Notes $m $m $m
Assets
Loans and other receivables 10 421.4 (59.4) 362.0
Investments at amortised cost 11 148.7 (3.4) 145.3

570.1 (62.8) 507.3

Liabilities
Borrowings 15 49.6 -                        49.6

49.6 -                        49.6

31 March 2024
Nominal 
amount

Accumulated 
fair value 

adjustments
Carrying 
amount

Notes $m $m $m
Assets
Loans and other receivables 10 654.2 (68.6) 585.6
Investments at amortised cost 11 135.9 (9.4) 126.5

790.1 (78.0) 712.1

Liabilities
Borrowings 15 -                        -                        -                        

-                        -                        -                        
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

Hedge accounting- source of ineffectiveness 

MCF performs fair value hedge accounting by matching the critical terms of hedge items using fixed-to- floating Swaps.   

The swaps are arranged to match the fixed leg interval against a quarterly floating leg.  Where hedge items have fixed 

intervals other than quarterly, ineffectiveness occurs where timing differences exist in the discounting of interest cash 

flows. 

 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

 

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure of nominal amounts to interest rate change 

for both derivatives and non-derivative instruments at the reporting date.  For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is 

prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year. 

 

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower for USD, EUR, GBP and 10 basis points 

higher/lower for JPY and all other variables were held constant, the Company’s net profit would increase/decrease by 

$0.1m (2024: increase/decrease by $0.1m).  This is mainly attributable to the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk 

on its variable rate financial instruments. 

 
(c) Other price risk 
 
The Company is exposed to price risks arising from investments in asset and mortgage-backed securities classified as 

amortised cost. The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to price risks at the reporting 

date.  If the prices had been 1% higher/lower as a result of changes in fair value of the securities, other equity reserves 

would increase/decrease by $1.5m (2024: increase/decrease by $1.3m). 
 

2. Credit risk management 

 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 

the Company. As at the reporting date, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account 
any collateral held or other credit enhancements, which will cause a financial loss to the Company due to failure to 

discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by the Company arises from: 

 

- the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of 

financial position; and 

-  the maximum amount the entity would have to pay if the committed loan facilities are called upon. 

 

The related loss allowance is disclosed below. 

 

In order to minimise credit risk, the Company’s management utilises MC Group’s credit risk gradings to categorise 

exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The Company’s management uses other publicly available 

financial information and the Company’s own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors. 

 

The Company’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored, and the aggregate 

value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. 

 

The Company diversifies its investments to reduce its credit risk exposure. Derivative counterparties and cash 

transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions. The Company also has policies that limit the amount 

of credit exposure to any financial institution. 
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 

 
For derivatives contracts, the Company’s credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the swap and forward rate 

contracts if counterparties fail to perform their obligation. This risk is monitored on an on-going basis with reference to 

the current fair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of the market.  

 

The Company uses Letters of Guarantees from its ultimate parent, MC Tokyo to manage its exposure to credit risk. 

 

With the exception of Mitsubishi Corporation International (Europe) Plc and Mitsubishi International GMBH, all loans 

and receivables from MC Group companies are guaranteed by the parent company, MC Tokyo.  

 
Exposure to credit risk 

 
The type of financial instruments that are most exposed to credit risks are Loans and receivables (note 10), investments 

(note 11), derivative financial instruments (note 13), trade and other receivables (note 10) and cash and cash equivalents 

(note 14). 

 

MCF has managed its counterparty credit exposure during the period within a pre-defined credit limits per counterparty 

and by type of financial instrument. 

 

With the exception of its legacy investments in collateralised debt obligations, exposure within investments is limited 

to investment grade supra-national financial institutions. 

 

Loans and receivables exposure is restricted to MC group companies. 

 

The Directors consider the credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments to be limited because the 

counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. 

 

The largest single exposure was $823.2m (2024: $632.2m) due from a MC Group company. This exposure is covered 

by a parental guarantee. 

 

The Company’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories: 

 

Category Description Basis for recognizing expected 
credit losses 

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 
have any past-due amounts 

12-month ECL 

Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 

Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired 

In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence 
indicating the asset is credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired 

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the Group have no realistic 
prospect of recovery 

Amount is written off 

 

Sensitivity analysis 

 

When calculating expected credit losses, the Company uses estimates of the probability that a loan will default, either 

within the next 12 months or over the lifetime of the loan. If the Company estimated that the risk of default was to 

double across the whole portfolio, the Expected Credit Loss in the reporting period would increase by $0.1m (2024: 
$0.1). 
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Company’s financial assets and the exposure to credit risk by credit risk 
rating grades and the associated expected credit loss: 
 
Analysis of Expected Credit Losses 
 
The loss allowance and maximum exposures to credit risk as at 31st March 2025 is shown in the below table: 
 
 
 

 
  

Description
Internal
credit rating ECL

 Gross
amount 

 Loss
allowance 

 Net carrying
amount 

 $m  $m  $m 
Loans and recievables: utilised

with parental guarantee Performing 12 month 2,190.5           -                         2,190.5            
without parental guarantee Performing 12 month 521.6              0.1                     521.5               

with parental guarantee Doubtful Lifetime -                      -                         -                       
Total Loans and recievables: utilised 2,712.1          0.1                     2,712.0           

Loans and Recievable facilities: un-utilised
with parental guarantee Performing 12 month 4,209.7           -                         4,209.7            

without parental guarantee Performing 12 month 528.2              -                         528.2               
with parental guarantee Doubtful Lifetime -                      -                         -                       

Total Loans and Recievable facilities: un-utilised 4,737.9          -                         4,737.9           

Investments Performing 12 month 145.3              -                         145.3               

Collateralised debt obligations Default
Lifetime:
(credit impaired) 76.3                75.1                   1.2                   

75.2                   
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 
 
The loss allowance and maximum exposures to credit risk as at 31st March 2024 is shown in the below table: 
 
 
 

 
 

The un-utilised portion of loans represents the portion of loans facilities that have been granted but are available to the 

Company’s customers. For ECL purposes the Company estimates a utilisation rate of 20% of undrawn loan 

commitments within the next 12 months. 

 

The loan loss provision has reduced by $0.1m during the reporting period. This movement comprises changes due to 

derecognition of financial assets and the acquisition of new assets or changes in the credit worthiness of financial 

assets and is detailed in the below table: 

 
Movement in Loss Allowance 

 

 
 

 

Significant changes in credit risk 

 

As detailed in note 3, the Company makes periodic assessments of the credit worthiness of financial assets. Any 

significant change in credit risk will affect the ECL for a financial asset. 

  

Description
Internal
credit rating ECL

 Gross
amount 

 Loss
allowance 

 Net carrying
amount 

Loans and Recievables: utilised  $m  $m  $m 
with parental guarantee Performing 12 month 2,746.8           -                         2,746.8            

without parental guarantee Performing 12 month 397.9              0.2                     397.7               
with parental guarantee Doubtful Lifetime 256.6              -                         256.6               

Total Loans and recievables: utilised 3,401.3           0.2                     3,401.1            

Loans and Recievable facilities: un-utilised
with parental guarantee Performing 12 month 5,584.9           -                         5,584.9            

without parental guarantee Performing 12 month 648.5              -                         648.5               
with parental guarantee Doubtful Lifetime -                      -                         -                       

Total Loans and Recievable facilities: un-utilised 6,233.4           -                         6,233.4            

Investments Performing 12 month 126.5              -                         126.5               

Collateralised debt obligations Default
Lifetime:
(credit impaired) 76.3                75.1                   1.2                   

75.3                   

2025 2024
$m  $m 

Opening Balance 75.3 75.3
Net Loans (redeemed)/issued (0.1) -                         
Closing Loss Allowance 75.2 75.3
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

Previously the Company had assessed that although no default has occurred nor is expected to occur, the increase in 

country specific risk associated to its Russian lending is interpreted as a significant increase in credit risk. Despite the 

continued non-payment of its obligations during the current reporting period, the Company assessed that there has been 

no further increase in the creditworthiness of its Russian borrowers. As noted in the Strategic Report and note 3, loans 

to Russian entities are guaranteed by the parent company. In the event of an actual default, any non-payment will be 

reimbursed by the parent company; the overall expected credit loss is based on the probability of default of MC Tokyo 

and is considered to be low. 

 

A reconciliation of the movements in the credit risk classifications is shown in the below table: 

 

Changes in credit risk classification 

 

 
 

 

As noted in the Strategic report, restrictions imposed by the CBR have resulted in counterparties resident in Russia not 

being able to honour the obligations they have to the Company. The Company, being in close dialogue with the 

parties and are confident that their underlying financial performance remains strong. The specific country risk 

associated with Russia has resulted in the re-classification of the associated loans from Stage 1 to Stage 2. 

  

Stage 1
(performing)

Stage 2
(doubtful)

 Stage 3
(default) 

 Total

$m $m $m $m
At 1 April 2023 3,116.4 349.3 76.4               3,542.1             
Transfer into Level 1 - - -                      -                         
Transfer into Level 2 - - -                      -                         
Transfer into Level 3 - - -                      -                         
Loans and investments originated 1,748.8 100.7 -                      1,849.5              
Loans and investments repaid (1,594.0) (193.4) -                      (1,787.4)
At 31 March 2024 3,271.2 256.6 76.4               3,604.2

Stage 1
(performing)

Stage 2
(doubtful)

 Stage 3
(default) 

 Total

$m $m $m $m
At 1 April 2024 3,271.2 256.6 76.4               3,604.2             
Transfer into Level 1 - - -                      -                         
Transfer into Level 2 - - -                      -                         
Transfer into Level 3 - - -                      -                         
Loans and investments originated 1,466.3 57.8 -                      1,524.1
Loans and investments repaid (2,167.5) (27.1) -                      (2,194.6)
At 31 March 2025 2,570.0 287.3 76.4               2,933.7
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3. Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due.  As MCF functions 

as MC Group’s EMEA treasury centre, managing liquidity to ensure that it is able to support the financing requirements 

of the MC Group companies is of critical importance. The Company manages its liquidity risk with credit support from 
its parent company utilising a range of funding tools (refer to note 15):  

 

 $5bn multi-currency Euro Medium-Term Note (EMTN) programme;  

 $4bn Euro Commercial Paper (CP) programme;  

 Bank borrowing; and 

 Access to funds from MC. 
 

Short term liquidity risk is further managed by the holding of investment grade securities that are easily converted into 

cash either by sale in proven markets or via repurchase agreement transactions. 

 

Repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions 

 

The Company executes repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions as part of its liquidity management programme.  

These transactions are executed under Global Master Repurchase Agreements (GMRA) with regulated financial 

institutions. The Company mitigates the credit risk of reverse repurchase transactions by holding collateral in the form 

of marketable securities. 

 

The table below shows the amount of collateral given in respect of repurchase agreements as a result of transactions 

entered into on the standard terms for such transactions. 
 

No reverse repurchase agreements were transacted during the period. 

 

 
 
Acceptable collateral comprises investment grade securities that the Company is entitled to sell or provide as collateral 

for other transactions. As at 31 March 2025, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that had been sold 

or re-pledged was $nil (2024: $nil). 

 

Collateral provided includes investment grade securities sold under bilateral repurchase agreements that the recipient 

of the collateral has a right to sell or re-pledge. 

 

The Company continues to recognise these securities in the statement of financial position and presents them within 

Investments. 
  

2025 2024
Notes $m $m

Repurchase agreements
Payables under repurchase agreements 15 133.6 116.7
Carrying amount of collateral provided in respect of the above 133.8 116.8
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

Liquidity risk management 

 

The tables below detail the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity profiles.  The tables on non-derivative 

financial liabilities represent undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities including interest based on the earliest date 

which the Company can be required to pay.  The tables are based on contractual rather than expected maturities.  Where 
the Company has a right to repay a facility, that facility is recognised at the earliest contractual cash flow date rather 

than maturity. The tables on derivative instruments are based on undiscounted net cash flows.  Trade accounts payable 

are generally interest free and fall due within one year. Therefore, the carrying amount of trade payables equals the sum 

of future cash flows. 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
  

Contractual Less than 1 – 6 6 – 12 1 – 2 2 – 5
At 31 March 2025 Amount 1 month  months months years years
Liabilities $m $m $m $m $m $m

Non derivative financial liabilities
Other borrowings 2,776.0 2,365.0 342.0 69.0 - -
EMTNs issued 344.0 - - 12.0 12.0 320.0
Repurchase agreements 134.0 134.0 - - - -

Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps 4.0 - 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Cross currency swaps 44.0 - 1.0 1.0 2.0 40.0
Foreign exchange contracts 1,711.0 1,401.0 310.0 - - -

 
Total liabilities 5,013.0 3,900.0 654.0 83.0 15.0 361.0

Contractual Less than 1 – 6 6 – 12 1 – 2 2 – 5
At 31 March 2024 Amount 1 month  months months years years
Liabilities $m $m $m $m $m $m

Non derivative financial liabilities
Other borrowings 3,237.0 1,956.0 1,281.0 - - -
EMTNs issued 30.0 - 30.0 - - -
Repurchase agreements 117.0 117.0 - - - -

Derivative financial liabilities
Interest rate swaps 2.0 - - - 1.0 1.0
Cross currency swaps 34.0 6.0 18.0 6.0 2.0 2.0
Foreign exchange contracts 770.0 328.0 442.0 - - -

 
Total liabilities 4,190.0 2,407.0 1,771.0 6.0 3.0 3.0
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21.  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board. The Directors believe that the Company has 

ready access to sufficient liquid funds in view of the good credit ratings of its parent company including global credit 

lines arranged by the parent company. 

 

The Company also has on-going commercial paper and EMTN programmes 

The Company’s liquidity risk management process is carried out and monitored by a separate team within the Company, 

and includes: 

 

 day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. These 

include replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by related parties.  The Company maintains an 

active presence in global money markets to enable this to happen; 

 maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can be easily liquidated as protection against any 

unforeseen interruption to cash flow; 

 monitoring liquidity ratios against internal targets; and 

 managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 

 

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement, and projections for the next day, week and month 

respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management.  The starting point for those projections is an analysis 

of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets. 

 

4. Capital management 

 

The Company’s capital management approach is driven by its strategy to operate as the EMEA treasury centre of MC, 

by taking into account the funding requirements of MC Group companies, and also the economic and commercial 

environment in which it operates. 

 

The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base consisting of shareholders’ funds to support the development 

of its business and to meet the funding requirements of MC subsidiaries at all times. Total value of shareholders’ funds 

at the reporting date is $429.2m (2024: $437.4) Through its structured internal governance processes, the Company also 

maintains discipline over its investment decisions and where it allocates its capital, seeking to ensure that returns are 

appropriate and are at arm’s length after taking account of capital and funding costs. 

 
The Company’s capital management framework has been approved by the parent, MC who ensures that the Company 

has adequate capital to operate effectively at all times. 

 

The Company is not subject to, nor does it need to comply with, any externally imposed capital regulations. 



Mitsubishi Corporation Finance PLC 
 

 69

22.  Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at 

fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

 
 Level 1: Quoted market price - 

Financial instruments valued with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. 
 

 Level 2: Valuation technique using observable inputs - 
Financial instruments with valuations derived from inputs other than quoted prices included in level 
1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from 
prices). 

 
 Level 3: Valuation technique with non-observable inputs - 

Financial instruments with valuations derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

  

31 March 2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Notes $m $m $m $m

Financial assets at FVTPL
Derivative financial assets 13 -                      96.4                -                      96.4                

Total assets -                      96.4                -                      96.4                

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Derivative financial liabilities 13 -                      7.5                  -                      7.5                  

Total liabilities -                      7.5                  -                      7.5                  

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year.

31 March 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Notes $m $m $m $m

Financial assets at FVTPL
Derivative financial assets 13 -                      153.2               -                      153.2               

Total assets -                      153.2               -                      153.2               

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Derivative financial liabilities 13 -                      5.0                   -                      5.0                   

Total liabilities -                      5.0                   -                      5.0                   

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the year.
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23.  Fair values of non-derivative financial instruments 
 
 
 
 

 
 

2025
Carrying 

value
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$m $m $m $m $m

Financial Assets
Cash and bank balances 280.1 280.1 -                  280.1 -               
Investments 146.5 147.6 -                  145.3 2.3
Loan receivables 2,712.0 2,722.8 -                  -                  2,722.8
Trade and other receivables 66.8 66.8 -                  -                  66.8

3,205.4 3,217.3 -                  425.4 2,791.9

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables 10.4 10.4 -                  -                  10.4
Borrowings 2,836.9 2,838.4 -                  -                  2,838.4

2,847.3 2,848.8 -                  -                  2,848.8

2024
 Carrying 

value 
 Fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$m $m $m $m $m

Financial Assets
Cash and bank balances 188.2 188.2 -                  188.2 -               
Investments 127.8 129.2 -                  126.9 2.3
Loan receivables 3,401.3 3,428.6 -                  -                  3,428.6
Trade and other receivables 37.6 37.6 -                  -                  37.6

3,754.9 3,783.6 -                  315.1 3,468.5

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables 11.1 11.1 -                  -                  11.1
Borrowings 3,446.6 3,446.8 -                  -                  3,446.8

3,457.7 3,457.9 -                  -                  3,457.9

Fair value methodology

Fair value methodology
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24.  Classification of financial instruments and other financial liabilities 
 
The table below summarises the classification of the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial liabilities and financial instruments as at 31 March 2025. 
 
 

   

31 March 2025
Held-for-

trading

Derivative 
instruments in 

designated 
hedge 

accounting 
relationships

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost

Assets at 
amortised 

cost Total
Notes $m $m $m $m $m

Assets
Investments in financial assets 11 -                      -                         -                      146.5 146.5
Derivative financial instruments 13 33.4 62.9 -                      -                      96.3
Trade and other receivables 10 -                      -                         -                      2,778.9 2,778.9
Cash and cash equivalents 14 -                      -                         -                      280.1 280.1

Total 33.4 62.9 -                      3,205.5 3,301.8

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 13 7.2 0.3 -                      -                      7.5
Financial liabilities – borrowings 15, 23 -                      -                         2,836.9 -                      2,836.9
Trade and other payables 16 -                      -                         10.4 -                      10.4
Tax creditor 16 -                      -                         17.9 -                      17.9

Total 7.2 0.3 2,865.2 -                      2,872.7
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24.  Classification of financial instruments and other financial liabilities (continued) 
 
The table below summarises the classification of the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments as at 31 March 2024. 
 

   
 

31 March 2024
Held-for-

trading

Derivative 
instruments in 

designated 
hedge 

accounting 
relationships

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost

Assets at 
amortised 

cost Total
Notes $m $m $m $m $m

Assets
Investments in financial assets 11 -                      -                         -                      127.8 127.8
Derivative financial instruments 13 65.4 87.8 -                      -                      153.2
Trade and other receivables 10 -                      -                         -                      3,438.9 3,438.9
Cash and cash equivalents 14 -                      -                         -                      188.2 188.2

Total 65.4 87.8 -                      3,754.9 3,908.1

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 13 4.8 0.2 -                      -                      5.0
Financial liabilities – borrowings 15, 23 0.0 -                         3,446.6 -                      3,446.6
Trade and other payables 16 0.0 -                         8.1 -                      8.1
Tax creditor 16 -                      -                         19.2 -                      19.2

Total 4.8 0.2 3,473.9 -                      3,478.9
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25. Post Balance Sheet Events 
 

The Directors have not identified any post-balance sheet events which would require amendment or disclosure within 

the financial statements. 

 

26. Dividends 
 

The Directors of the Company propose a final dividend payment to MC Tokyo, the Company’s sole shareholder as 

detailed in the below table: 

 
The proposed dividend is the equivalent of $1,905 per share. (2024: $2,756) 

 

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the annual general meeting and has not been 

included as a liability in these financial statements. The payment of this dividend will not have any tax consequences 

for the Company.  

       

27. Ultimate controlling and holding company 
 

The Company is a wholly owned and controlled subsidiary of its ultimate holding and controlling company, Mitsubishi 

Corporation, which is incorporated in Japan.  Copies of the consolidated financial statements of Mitsubishi Corporation 

are available from Mitsubishi Corporation, 3-1 Marunouchi 2-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-8086, Japan. Further 

information can be obtained from the parent company’s website www.mitsubishicorp.com. 

 

2025 2024
$m $m

Proposed Final Dividend 17.1 24.8


